REVIEW ARTICLE



Levers for the agroecological transition of tropical agriculture

François Xavier Côte^{1,2} · Bruno Rapidel^{3,4} · Jean Michel Sourisseau^{5,6,7} · François Affholder^{8,9} · Nadine Andrieu^{10,11} · Cécile Bessou^{3,4} · Patrick Caron^{2,5} · Jean-Philippe Deguine¹² · Guy Faure^{11,13} · Etienne Hainzelin^{1,2} · Eric Malezieux^{14,15} · Emmanuelle Poirier-Magona¹⁶ · Philippe Roudier¹⁶ · Eric Scopel^{8,9} · Philippe Tixier^{17,18} · Aurélie Toillier^{11,13} · Sylvain Perret^{1,2}

Accepted: 10 June 2022 / Published online: 5 July 2022 \odot The Author(s) 2022

Abstract

To promote greater sustainability in agriculture, development of agroecology is increasingly being invoked. What are the conditions for establishing agroecological production in tropical regions? Based upon case studies in several tropical areas, we provide here some answers to this question. We review the "pillars" (i.e. principles) and the "implementation levers" (i.e., tools) for the development of agroecology. We identify three main pillars: (1) the mobilization and management of ecological processes for the sustainable production and the resilience of agroecosystems; (2) the development of interactions between technical, social, environmental, and institutional components of agroecosystems for a holistic approach to agroecology; and (3) the scaling up of agroecology that takes place with a plurality of actions and pathways at different organization levels rather than an increase in resources and a replication of standardized technical processes. To implement these three pillars, we identify 11 main biotechnical, cognitive, socio-political, and organizational levers. Bio-technical levers include those for (1) mobilizing complementarity between crop species to optimize natural resources use, (2) mobilizing functional biodiversity at the plot scale to optimize natural regulation of pests and diseases, (3) managing biodiversity at landscape and territorial scales, (4) increasing the efficiency of biogeochemical cycles, and (5) renewing targets for genetic improvement. Cognitive, socio-political, and organizational levers include those for (6) political and institutional action at the national and global level, (7) action at the local level to support producers, (8) political and organizational action at the territorial level, (9) the marketing and the development of new agri-chains, (10) the development of new methods for evaluating production systems, and (11) the recognition of the values of gender and generation within families and other organisational levels. This paper provides an overall orientation for the agroecological transition in tropical agriculture and also considers the socio-political context that underlies this transition.

Keywords Biodiversity management \cdot Agroecological crop protection \cdot Agri-food chains \cdot Institutional and political rules \cdot Territorial development in the global South

François Xavier Côte francois.cote@cirad.fr

- ¹ CIRAD, DGDRS, F-34398 Montpellier, France
- ² DGDRS, Univ Montpellier, CIRAD, Montpellier, France
- ³ CIRAD, UMR ABSys, F-34398 Montpellier, France
- ⁴ ABSys, Univ Montpellier, CIHEAM-IAMM, CIRAD, INRAE, Institut Agro, Montpellier, France
- ⁵ CIRAD, UMR ART-DEV, F-34398 Montpellier, France
- ⁶ Univ Montpellier, CIRAD, CNRS, Univ Montpellier 3, Montpellier, France
- ⁷ Univ Perpignan Via Domitia, Perpignan, France
- ⁸ CIRAD, UPR AIDA, F-34398 Montpellier, France

- ⁹ AIDA, Univ Montpellier, CIRAD, Montpellier, France
- ¹⁰ CIRAD, UMR INNOVATION, Cali, Colombia
- ¹¹ INNOVATION. Univ Montpellier, CIRAD, INRAE, Institut Agro, Montpellier, France
- ¹² CIRAD, UMR PVBMT, F-97410 Saint-Pierre, La Réunion, France
- ¹³ CIRAD, UMR INNOVATION, F-34398 Montpellier, France
- ¹⁴ CIRAD, UPR HortSys, F-34398 Montpellier, France
- ¹⁵ HortSys, Univ Montpellier, CIRAD, Montpellier, France
- ¹⁶ Agence Française de Développement, 5 rue Roland Barthes, 75012 Paris, France
- ¹⁷ CIRAD, UPR GECO, F-34398 Montpellier, France
- ¹⁸ GECO, Univ Montpellier, CIRAD, Montpellier, France



Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Agroecological pillars for tropical regions
- 3. Levers for agroecological transition in the tropics
 - 3.1 Biotechnical levers
 - 3.1.1 Levers for optimizing natural resource use, maximizing photosynthesis, and increasing resilience
 - 3.1.2 Levers for mobilizing functional biodiversity at the plot scale to optimize the natural regulation of pests and diseases and to reduce the use of pesticides
 - 3.1.3 Levers for managing biodiversity at the landscape and territorial scales
 - 3.1.4 Levers for contributing to the efficiency of biogeochemical cycles
 - 3.1.5 Levers for renewing targets for genetic improvement of plants and animals
 - 3.2 Cognitive and socio-political and organizational levers
 - 3.2.1 Political levers for action at the national and global levels
 - 3.2.2 Levers for action at the local level to support producers
 - 3.2.3 Political and organizational levers for action at the territorial level
 - 3.2.4 Levers for marketing and the development of new agri-chains
 - 3.2.5 Levers for new methods of evaluating production systems
 - 3.2.6 Gender and generational levers within families and other social organizations
- 4. Conclusion
- References

1 Introduction

Agricultural systems in the tropics, where many countries are still facing sharp increase in human population, are challenged by a growing food demand, unequitable food availability and structural economic conditions that are not favourable to rural employment. As is the case for agriculture in northern countries, these challenges in tropical countries are accompanied by the need to reduce rural poverty, to maintain an equilibrium between rural and urban areas, to preserve natural resources, to attain more sustainable and safe food systems, and to cope with climate change (HLPE 2019).

World agriculture has rapidly evolved during the last 60 years and has managed to fulfil a rising global food demand. This success, however, has been based on the cheap mining of renewable resources (land, soil fertility, water, and biodiversity) which has largely exceeded the capacity to recover for many ecosystems and resources (Wezel et al. 2009;

Gliessman 2015; Altieri 2018). Another drawback of agricultural development in these past decades is that it has been unevenly shared among countries. Many countries have been unable to substantially increase their food production even though those countries are exactly where the population is still rapidly growing and where food challenges are and will be particularly acute in the next decades. Since 2015, FAO's investment strategy has promoted agroecology (FAO 2015). However, conventional agriculture is still often promoted in tropical areas. Agroecology is sometimes questioned or perceived as an obstacle to meet the growing food demand, while its defenders insist on the urgent need for a radical transition (Gliessman 2015; HLPE 2019).

The objective of this paper is to review research and development experiences from tropical regions in Africa, Asia, Latin America, the Indian Ocean, and the Caribbean and to also highlight the challenges for developing agroecological systems. This analysis of agroecology is mainly based on reflections and references of the Centre for International Cooperation in Agricultural Research for Development (CIRAD) and the French Development Agency (AFD). The first part of the article presents an interpretation of agroecology principles. The second part is devoted to the levers, i.e., the tools that can help effective agroecological systems (Fig. 1).

2 Agroecological pillars for tropical regions

Fundamental principles of agroecology have been proposed by various authors (Wezel et al. 2009; Altieri et al. 2017). The definitions of agroecology are numerous and are still the subject of controversy. Our purpose is not to provide another definition of agroecology but to deliver an operational interpretation of its principles., i.e., its pillars.

We identify three operational pillars. The first relates to mobilizing and managing ecological processes to ensure the provision of a set of services aimed at preserving renewable resources. This is undoubtedly the most commonly accepted principle when referring to agroecology, and all the promoters of tropical agroecology subscribe to this principle (Malézieux 2012). The second pillar consists of those connections that must be established between the technical, social, environmental, and institutional components of agroecosystems in order to develop agroecology. Technical changes can be achieved at the cropping or livestock system scale, but the overall agroecological transition requires changes in the organization at farm, landscape, regional, and agri-chain levels, jointly with an evolution of public policies and consumer initiatives at national and global levels (Tittonell et al. 2016; Cerdan et al. 2019). This holistic approach is mainly justified by the need to manage increasingly scarce and fragile resources used by multiple actors with divergent interests not only at the territorial scale but also at national and international scales (Piraux et al. 2019; Fig. 1. Examples of multispecies production systems especially suited to a transition to agroecology. **a** An agroforestry system for local production based on bananas and coffee (photograph by B. Rapidel). **b** An export banana and cover crop system (photograph by H. Tran Quoc).



Toillier et al. 2019) and at the level of markets and value-chains (Cerdan et al. 2019). This second pillar leads to the close linking of agroecological transition to the transition to sustainable food systems (Gliessman 2015).

The third founding pillar we highlight involves the dynamic dimensions of the transition itself. The scaling up of agroecology of course depends on the starting point, i.e., on the degree of development of the two first pillars. However, scaling up in agroecology is different from scaling up in the Green Revolution. Scaling up in agroecology proceeds with a plurality of actions and pathways. In contrast to the green revolution, agroecology is at the opposite developing standardized systems because it depends on the hybridization between local and scientific knowledge and on the use of local biological and ecological resources shared by various actors. The classical notion of "scaling up," which assumes that the same innovative systems developed in small area can be replicated in larger areas by many other farmers by simply increasing allocated resources, is thus not consistent with agroecology. For agroecology, scaling up should be replaced be the idea of "agroecological transition": a contextualized, progressive, and diversified systems' transformation (Côte et al. 2019).

The first two pillars we propose here are in line with and combine the 10 elements of agroecology described by the FAO (FAO 2015) and the 13 elements of agroecology reported by the HLPE (HLPE 2019). These pillars represent of these elements formulated by these two institutions. The third pillar, which is conceptually similar to ideas proposed by (Gliessman 2015), emphasizes that upscaling should involve the notion of territorial agroecological transition.

Based on our experiences, we suggest that all of the diverse production systems in the tropics can be part of a process of environmental progress through the adoption of agroecology principles, independently of their initial degree of artificiality, productivity, or diversity (Côte et al. 2019). We also believe that agroecology should not be seen as a slogan or a oneway process that excludes the use of improved varieties, mechanization, or exogenous inputs when yield gap is important. We believe that an in-depth agroecological transformation, when accomplished, should be free of synthetic pesticides and should be parsimonious in the use of synthetic fertilisers.

Because of its holistic perspective and because it values local knowledge and practices, territorial anchorage, and diversity (biological and organizational), we consider agroecology is particularly important for small-scale farms and their economic and social networks. Social movements fighting for agroecology intersect with movements in favor of family farming and alternatives to globalized markets in Latin America (Le Coq et al. 2019) or Africa (AFSA, Alliance for Food Sovereignty in Africa; DyTAES, Dynamique pour la Transition Agroécologique au Sénégal). In contrast, largescale intensification through industrialization (we consider here mostly large-scale industrial plantations for exportation) usually results in a degree of uniformity (of landscapes, plants, etc.) and social status that does not appear compatible with several principles of agroecological production systems. Concentration often interferes with resource allocation equity and specialization is inconsistent with diversity and promotes distance over proximity. Although large industrial farms can also reduce their use of synthetic inputs and decarbonize their systems, these changes must go far beyond a simple "greening" of their policies and communication.

3 Levers for agroecological transition in the tropics

Here, we describe the major levers for the development and implementation of the three pillars described in the previous chapter.

3.1 Biotechnical levers

From our experience, we distinguish five main biophysical levers for the design of new agroecological systems for



tropical regions. All of these levers are based on the role of biodiversity in sustainable production systems. The levers include (i) the optimizing of natural resource use and the maximizing of photosynthesis, (ii) the mobilizing of functional biodiversity at the plot scale, (iii) the managing of biodiversity at the landscape and territorial scales, (iv) the renewing of targets for the genetic improvement of plants and animals, and (v) the increasing in the efficiency of biogeochemical cycles. These biotechnical levers are described in greater detail in the following paragraphs.

3.1.1 Levers for optimizing natural resource use, maximizing photosynthesis, and increasing resilience

Complementarity between phenotypes and species over time may be optimized in order to increase resource-use efficiency at the field or the landscape scales. In agroforestry systems, species are selected to complement rather than to compete with each other (Salazar-Díaz and Tixier 2021) and finally to increase farmer incomes (Salazar-Díaz and Tixier 2019). Tropical systems with greater species diversity improve the use of natural resources in general and the use of solar energy, atmospheric carbon dioxide, water, and nitrogen and other nutrients (Malézieux et al. 2009). For example, the complementarity between trees and annual crops improves the use of aboveground and belowground resources for systems involving the leguminous tree Faidherbia albida in the semi-arid zone of West and East Africa or for systems involving Coffea arabica in Central America (Roupsard et al. 1999; Lahmar et al. 2012; Padovan et al. 2015). Crop diversification, i.e., the mixing of plants at the plot scale, can significantly increase biodiversity, production, and other ecosystem services. That this effect is widely shared among a wide range of agriculture systems worldwide was indicated by a recent meta-analysis (Beillouin et al. (2021).

Biomass production per unit area could be increased by using cover plants, intercropping species and rotations in different tropical agriculture systems (Scopel et al. 2013; Ranaivoson et al. 2017). The engineering of multispecies cropping systems has made significant progress as shown in the banana culture systems in the French West Indies (Tixier et al. 2011). The use of the concept of functional traits makes possible the selection of the most suitable cover plants according to the expected services and the local context (Damour et al. 2014; Tardy et al. 2015). The complementarities between the culturing of plants and livestock are also at the heart of interactions between species that optimize the use of resources. Co-designing innovative mixed crop-livestock farming system remains a key factor of agroecological transition in, for example, cotton cropping areas of Burkina Faso (Vall et al. 2019).

Deringer

INRA

3.1.2 Levers for mobilizing functional biodiversity at the plot scale to optimize the natural regulation of pests and diseases and to reduce the use of pesticides

Because they can develop throughout the year, pests and diseases often cause significant production losses under tropical conditions. The type and intensity of both aboveground and belowground natural enemies of pests and diseases are influenced by the diversity of plant and animal communities in tropical agroecosystems (Poeydebat et al. 2017; Poeydebat et al. 2018). The use of plant biodiversity can reduce pests and disease via many processes including resource dilution, diversion, conservation, and predation (Ratnadass et al. 2012). Regulatory processes can also be intensified in the soil by promoting allelopathic effects and by stimulating antagonistic agents (Ratnadass et al. 2012). Even though the mechanisms underlying the regulation of pests and pathogens by natural enemies are only partially understood, the following agroecological practices have been found to increase the biological regulation of pests and diseases: the mixing of rice varieties in Madagascar (Raboin et al. 2013), the introduction of cover plants in banana and sugarcane plantings (Mollot et al. 2014; Nibouche et al. 2019), the use of non-host plants in crop rotations, and the introduction of repellent or attractive plants in horticulture (Deguine et al. 2015).

3.1.3 Levers for managing biodiversity at the landscape and territorial scales

Functional biodiversity should be managed not only within the plot but also outside the plot by the use of ecological structures such as hedges, ditches, trees, and grass strips. The intelligent arrangement of the environment makes it possible to extend the habitat of some regulating natural enemies and may thus strengthen the control of certain pests and diseases in, for example, banana plantings (Tixier et al. 2013). Functional biodiversity can be managed at the watershed or the landscape level through the creation of ecological corridors (Lestrelin et al. 2019). The integration of a mosaic organisation at the landscape level also helps to preserve critical resources (biodiversity, water, and soil) and to limit the flows of sediments, nutrients, and pesticides towards the natural environment as shown, for example, in the Caribbean (Cattan et al. 2019).

3.1.4 Levers for contributing to the efficiency of biogeochemical cycles

Limiting the degradation of natural resources and the disruption of natural processes caused by ecosystem simplification is a main challenge in tropical areas where soils are poor or degraded. The degradation and disruption caused by simplification can be reduced by maintaining a permanent plant cover on the soil surface in all tropical systems studied to date. A permanent plant cover limits erosion and soil compaction, promotes rainwater infiltration and groundwater recharge, and reduces nutrient losses from runoff in agroecosystems in Central America (Benegas et al. 2014; Meylan et al. 2017). This practice may contribute to the preservation of water and nutrient resources, both quantitatively and qualitatively, in smallscale farming systems in the dry zones of Mexico (Scopel et al. 2005) and in the more humid Brazilian Cerrados (Silva et al. 2019). The protection of the soil surface by a permanent cover also reduces the variation in soil temperature and humidity and thereby promotes biological soil functions. However, two main drawbacks to the adoption of permanent cover by small-scale farmers remain (especially for farmers who grow annual crops such as cereals and legumes): the initial planting of the main crop in an already-installed cover often relies on chemical herbicides, and the planting and maintenance of a cover crop can require substantial manual labour (Perret and Stevens 2006; Affholder et al. 2010).

3.1.5 Levers for renewing targets for genetic improvement of plants and animals

The search for biological functional diversity should first focus on the richness of existing traditional cultivars produced by farmers and already adapted to complex systems. Regarding the development of new cultivars for use in agroecosystems, an agroecological perspective means that breeders of plants and animals will be selecting for new traits that often differ from those previously selected (Raboin et al. 2013; van der Vossen et al. 2015). Breeding programs should now focus on traits and ideotypes so that the potential interactions of plants, animals, and their environment are better considered. For example, arabica coffee plantations often produce less in agroforestry systems than in full-sun plantations (Bertrand et al. 2011). For decades, coffee varieties have been bred in full-sun to reduce heterogeneity. In contrast, the varieties that proved successful in agroforestry systems to date have been obtained "by chance" and not by a breeding strategy (Bertrand et al. 2011). It is now time to intentionally breed varieties that will be useful for agroecological systems. It is also time to reconsider the strategy of variety deployment. In contrast to the agroindustrial goal in recent decades, which often was to breed and deploy a "perfect," all-purpose genotype, the agroecological goal should be to breed and deploy sets of genotypes covering a wide range of abiotic and biotic environmental conditions (Côte et al. 2019).

3.2 Cognitive, socio-political, and organizational levers

We identify six cognitive, socio-political, and organizational levers to promote the agroecological transition: (i) political and institutional levers for action at the national and global level; (ii) levers for action at the local level to support producers; (iii) political and organizational levers for action at the territorial level; (iv) levers for marketing and the development of new agri-chains; (v) levers for new methods for evaluating production systems; and (vi) gender and generational levers within families and other organisational levels. These levers are described in greater detail in the following paragraphs.

3.2.1 Political levers for action at the national and global levels

Agroecological transition requires organizational, technical, disruptive, or transformative changes. Development of agroecology fundamentally depends on the adoption of dedicated national policies and the ability of such policies to impart value to the services and multiple functions of agricultures. National authorities or governments should promote, evaluate, and support approaches that address the trade-offs between agricultural, rural, environmental, food, and social policies as observed in Latin American countries (Le Coq et al. 2019). In our experience, the agroecological transition has often arisen from spontaneous local initiatives. However, the institutionalization of the transitions depends on national policies and markets, as well as a recognition in international agendas. In Sub-Saharan Africa, for example, agroecology is a credible solution for the structural economic challenges, but the conventional vision of modernization and artificialization of agriculture remains often dominant at national and regional levels (Losch 2016). The Green Revolution still benefits, at national and international levels, from the significant amounts of direct and indirect funding (soft loans and investments in infrastructure, research, support services, etc.), and from direct and indirect subsidies through market policies. The development of the agroecological transition will likely require a comparable level of aid. The zeroinput "natural farming" policies in Andhra Pradesh, India, illustrate a spectacular transformation managed by political action (Dorin 2022).

The differences of perception of priorities in the short- ang long-term between the different actors still constitute a major challenge in the advocacy and implementation of the agroecological transition at national and global levels. Compared to the establishment of governance concerning private goods, the establishment of governance concerning common goods often takes much longer because it requires collective rather than individual dynamics. Therefore, governments are tempted by known solutions, even when the evidence indicates that known solutions have negative results.

A bias in favour of the agroindustry rather than the agroecological systems may also exist in political decision-making, reinforced by alarming narrative from transnational corporations and their networks, and sometimes relayed by global farmer organizations (Fouilleux et al. 2017; Bricas and Malézieux 2021). The objective to feed an increasing population that will reach 9 billion in 2050 has long been used to justify chemical intensification practices in order to double world production. There is some evidence that agroecological practices, in addition to providing more ecosystem services than conventional agriculture, can also increase agricultural productivity (Beillouin et al. 2021). It follows that the benefits but also limits of agroecological systems should continue to be scientifically documented and compared with the benefits and limits of conventional systems at different spatial and temporal scales.

3.2.2 Levers for action at the local level to support producers

The various agroecological transition pathways should be embedded, designed, and implemented in local systems in an adaptive and collaborative way. Researchers have reported that small farmers in the tropical countries must play a central role in the transition to agroecology (Le Coq et al. 2019; Sourisseau et al. 2019; Toillier et al. 2019). Local farmer innovations are frequently useful for transforming traditional systems into agroecological systems (Périnelle et al. 2021). Some support mechanisms like innovation platforms (i.e., groups of individuals with different backgrounds but common innovation goals) can help resolve problems that producers and other actors encounter during the agroecological transition. As observed in different contexts in Africa (Dabire et al. 2017; Angbo-Kouakou et al. 2018), the success of these platforms is based upon several principles: construction and exchange of knowledge between actors; facilitation of collective action; strengthening or development of collaborative practices between multiple organizations with sometimes divergent interests; and facilitation of planning of action and the monitoring, evaluation, and capitalization of experimental activities.

The transition to new agroecological systems also requires increased involvement of support services. The transition would benefit from advisory approaches based on fieldschools (Bakker et al. 2021), exchanges between farmers and farmer leaders, and digital technologies. Nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) and producer organizations are also required to promote the agroecological transition through activities of training, research, and development.

Springer

INRA

3.2.3 Political and organizational levers for action at the territorial level

Making the best use of a territory's tangible and intangible resources is essential for an agroecological transition. A territorial asset consists of an institutional arrangement formalized between territorial actors (producers, service providers, value and supply chains, policy makers, civil society, etc.). This level of organisation differs from the innovation platforms previously described, which are more focused on producers and their immediate environment. Support at the territorial level involves larger scales and public decisionmakers. The objectives of a territorial approach include identifying trade-offs between actors willing to promote agroecology and territorial development, and proposing new values, standards, and rules, as described for the Brazilian Amazon by Piraux et al. (2019). The management and quality of information are crucial for territorial development because the information that is produced must be relevant, usable, and actually used (Tonneau et al. 2017). This complements the need to move away from a project-based approach and to instead develop long-term local policies (Boillat et al. 2022).

3.2.4 Levers for marketing and the development of new agri-chains

The adoption of agroecological practices may reduce yields and increase producer costs for labour, certification, monitoring, and sometimes inputs. Incentives and financial compensation sometimes help the agroecological transition, but the transition must also be facilitated by new market dynamics with an emphasis on direct sales and short supply chains. Cerdan et al. (2019) described various examples of agroecological practices in Brazil, Morocco, Vietnam, Madagascar, and Laos promoted by markets. Agroecology and the concept of the localized agri-food system involve new agreements, bringing together innovative practices, processing, and marketing functions (Marie-Vivien and Biénabe 2017; Meynard et al. 2017).

3.2.5 Levers for new methods of evaluating production systems

Whether biotechnical or organizational, the levers described above can only be effective if a framework for the evaluation of the system performance is in place. The framework for evaluation of new agricultural production systems will differ from that used for conventional agriculture production systems because new agricultural production systems provide a much wider range of goods and services (Malézieux et al. 2009; Affholder et al. 2019). A framework for the evaluation of ecosystems based on sustainability has emerged over the past 20 years and is well adapted for the evaluation of agroecological systems (Lairez et al. 2016). Initiatives and projects are also developing specific evaluation processes for agroecology (Tittonell 2020). The TAPE (Tool for Agroecology Performance Evaluation) agroecological system assessment initiative launched by FAO is one of the most advanced of these initiatives; TAPE includes a participatory diagnosis of the strong and weak points of the production systems in place (Mottet et al. 2020).

Given the current stage of development of agroecology, a set of "demonstrators" under real conditions and in different contexts must be deployed to specify and evaluate the level of economic, social, and environmental performance of the agroecological solutions envisaged. Based on these demonstrators and their scientifically documented evaluation data, effective advocacy can be offered to decision-makers and civil society. Such an approach is part of the European Commission's programme on value chain analysis (VCA4D). Recent case studies with multicriteria analysis and Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) standardized methods improve the policy dialogue and action plans of producers. Examples from the Dominican Republic (banana) (Feschet et al. 2019), Cameroon (cocoa) (Lescuyer et al. 2019), Mali (cashew) (Michel et al. 2019), and Angola (coffee) (Bessou et al. 2020) demonstrate the economic, social, and environmental benefits and limits provided by agroecological production practices. To date, case studies in more than 35 countries have been carried out within the VCA4D programme.

3.2.6 Gender and generational levers within families and other social organizations

A major challenge for the future of agroecology is linked to the transformation of the roles of women and youth, on their own and as parts of families, in agriculture. An intrahousehold balance of power is crucial to support technical, social, and economic innovation of family agriculture, from production to product transformation and commercialization (Ancey and Fréguin-Gresh 2015). Agroecological transition may therefore benefit from an increase in the access of women and youth to production resources, social capital, and decision-making. Women and youth have specific knowledge and skills due to their former marginalized positions. For example, women may tend to focus more than men on worker care, safe practises, safe products, and the sustainability of farms and territories (Bezner et al., 2019; Zaremba et al. 2021).

Job creation in agriculture and in food systems in general is a major challenge, especially in Sub-Saharan Africa, which is experiencing explosive growth in human populations (Losch 2016). The development of the agroecological transition may in this context have a crucial role to play. Because of the complexity of agroecological systems in terms of diversity of species and interactions to be managed, manual labour is often more important in agroecological systems than in those simplified systems that depend on large inputs of synthetic fertilizers and pesticides. However, the fact that agroecology create more jobs has to be demonstrated (Paracchini et al. 2020). The attractiveness of agricultural jobs depends greatly on the salary offered and on the place of agriculture and food sovereignty for the citizens (Giordano et al. 2019).

Table 1 summarizes the 11 levers that we identify to implement agroecology. In this table, we indicate the spatial scales at which these levers would be deployed. The scales range from the plant to the global, this underlines the systemic nature of the implementation of the agroecological transition. These levers are complementary, creating outcomes that are difficult or even impossible to achieve if pursued independently as it is the case in most innovation processes in agriculture involving a major paradigm shift (Toillier et al. 2022).

 Table 1.
 Levers for agroecology in tropical agriculture.

Scale Plant	Biotechnical levers Levers for renewing targets for genetic improvement of plants and animals	Cognitive and socio-political and organizational levers	
		Levers for action at local level to support producers	Levers for marketing and the development of new
Plot and farm	Levers for optimizing natural resources use, to maximize photosynthesis and to increase resilience		agri-chains Levers for new methods of evaluating production Gender and generational levers
	Levers for mobilizing functional biodiversity at the plot scale, to optimize the natural regulation of pests and diseases and to reduce the use of pesticides		
Landscape/regional and global	Levers for managing biodiversity at the landscape and territorial scales.	Political and organizational levers for action at the territorial level	
Global	Levers for contributing to the efficiency of biogeochemical cycles.	Political and institutional levers for action at the national and global level	



4 Conclusion

In this overview, we have described the 11 specific biotechnical, organizational, and political levers that are needed to make the transition to agroecological systems in tropical regions. Although they differ in purpose, application level, and operational scale, these pillars and levers complement each other.

Our overview also considers the institutional and political complexity that underlies the transition. The adoption of changes in agricultural practices and systems will meet tougher resistance and hindrances at large scales and high decision levels than at individual and local levels. Policy, decision-making, and political, institutional, financial, and collective (from national to global) dimensions should be considered. Gathering political momentum in support of agroecology is key, as was the case during the Green Revolution. The Green Revolution had one main objective, i.e., famine eradication, and had massive political, financial, and institutional support. The agroecological transition, in contrast, has multiple objectives: increasing human access to food and human well-being, increasing biodiversity and resource conservation, and reducing the use of fossil carbon. It requires a similar thrust, with at least similar political and financial support, as the Green Revolution.

An increasing number of global organizations adhere to agroecology principles and the links of those principles to more sustainable and healthier food systems. The current global crises represent a serious opportunity to rethink the way humanity manages its food supply. Our overview presented here is another plea to sustain and reinforce the momentum for agroecological transitions by the diverse farming systems of tropical agriculture.

Authors' contributions All authors contributed to the conception of the article. The first draft of the manuscript was written by François Xavier Côte, Bruno Rapidel, Jean Michel Sourisseau, Eric Malezieux, Philippe Tixier, and Sylvain Perret. All authors read, commented, and approved the final manuscript.

Funding No funding except those from the authors' home institutions which have been received to assist with the preparation of this manuscript.

Data availability Code availability is not applicable; the datasets generated during and/or analysed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Declarations

Ethics approval The authors state that the research described in this article was conducted in accordance with the recommended standard principles of objectivity, transparency, and ethics.

Consent to participate Informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study.

Consent for publication The authors affirm that human research participants provided informed consent for publication.

Conflict of interest The authors declare no competing interests.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

- Affholder F, Jourdain D, Quang DD, Tuong TP, Morize M, Ricome A (2010) Constraints to farmers' adoption of direct-seeding mulchbased cropping systems: a farm scale modeling approach applied to the mountainous slopes of Vietnam. Agricultural Systems 103(1):51–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2009.09.001
- Affholder F., et al. (2019) Assessment of trade-offs between environmental and socio-economic issues in agroecological systems, in: Côte F.X.et al (Eds.), The agroecological transition of agricultural systems in the Global South, Quae, Versailles, France, pp. 219-238.
- Altieri M.A. (2018) Agroecology, the science of Sustainable Agriculture -Second Edition. CRC Press, Taylor and Francis Group, Boca Raton London New York.
- Altieri MA et al (2017) Technological approaches to sustainable agriculture at a crossroads: an agroecological perspective. Sustainability 9(9):349. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9030349
- Ancey V, Fréguin-Gresh S (2015) Families, labor and farms. In: Sourisseau J-M (ed) Family Farming and the Worlds to Come. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp 57–69
- Angbo-Kouakou E.C.M., et al. (2018) Innovation platforms as a tool to support technological change in the agri-food sector in developing countries: a case study of the plantain value chain in Côte d'Ivoire, in: Temple L. and Compaoré Sawadogo E.M. (Eds.), Innovation Processes in Agro-Ecological Transitions in Developing Countries, Web Online Library - Montpellier SupAgro, pp. 1-27.
- Bakker T, Dugué P, de Tourdonnet S (2021) Assessing the effects of Farmer Field Schools on farmers' trajectories of change in practices. Agronomy for Sustainable Development 41(2):18. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s13593-021-00667-2
- Beillouin D, Ben-Ari T, Malézieux E, Seufert V, Makowski D (2021) Positive but variable effects of crop diversification on biodiversity and ecosystem services. Global Change Biology 27(19):4697–4710. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15747
- Benegas L, Ilstedt U, Roupsard O, Jones J, Malmer A (2014) Effects of trees on infiltrability and preferential flow in two contrasting agroecosystems in Central America. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 183:185–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.10. 027

Description Springer

- Bertrand B, Alpizar E, Lara L, SantaCreo R, Hidalgo M, Quijano JM, Montagnon C, Georget F, Etienne H (2011) Performance of Coffea arabica F1 hybrids in agroforestry and full-sun cropping systems in comparison with American pure line varieties. Euphytica 181:147– 158. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10681-011-0372-7
- Bessou C., et al. (2020) Análise da Cadeia de Valor do Café em Angola. Relatório para a União Europeia, DG-DEVCO, Value Chain Analysis for Development Project (VCA4D CTR 2016/375-804), pp. 98.
- Bezner KR et al (2019) Repairing rifts or reproducing inequalities? Agroecology, food sovereignty, and gender justice in Malawi. The Journal of Peasant Studies 46(7):1499–1518. https://doi.org/10. 1080/03066150.2018.1547897
- Boillat S, Belmin R, Bottazzi P (2022) The agroecological transition in Senegal: transnational links and uneven empowerment. Agriculture and Human Values 39(1):281–300. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10460-021-10247-5
- Bricas N., E. Malézieux. (2021) Faut-il doubler la production alimentaire pour nourrir le monde ?, in: N. B.et al (Eds.), Une écologie de l'alimentation, éditions Quæ, Versailles, pp. 165-175.
- Cattan P, Charlier JB, Clostre F, Letourmy P, Arnaud L, Gresser J, Jannoyer M (2019) A conceptual model of organochlorine fate from a combined analysis of spatial and mid- to long-term trends of surface and ground water contamination in tropical areas (FWI). Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 23(2):691–709. https://doi. org/10.5194/hess-23-691-2019
- Cerdan C., et al. (2019) What market dynamics for promoting an agroecological transition?, in: Côte F.X.et al (Eds.), The agroecological transition of agricultural systems in the Global South, Quae, Versailles, France, pp. 271-291.
- Côte FX et al (eds) (2019) The agroecological transition of agricultural systems in the Global South, Quae. Versailles, France
- Dabire D et al (2017) Operationalizing an innovation platform approach for community-based participatory research on conservation agriculture in Burkina Faso. Experimental Agriculture **53**(3):460–479. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0014479716000636
- Damour G, Dorel M, Quoc HT, Meynard C, Risède JM (2014) A traitbased characterization of cover plants to assess their potential to provide a set of ecological services in banana cropping systems. European Journal of Agronomy 52:218–228. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.eja.2013.09.004
- Deguine J-P, Atiama-Nurbel T, Aubertot JN, Augusseau X, Atiama M, Jacquot M, Reynaud B (2015) Agroecological management of cucurbit-infesting fruit fly: a review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development 35(3):937–965. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-015-0290-5
- Dorin B (2022) Theory, practice and challenges of agroecology in India. International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability **20**(2):153–167. https://doi.org/10.1080/14735903.2021.1920760
- FAO (2015) Final report for the international symposium on agroecology for food security and nutrition, Rome, 18 and 19 September 2014. FAO, Rome, Italy
- Feschet P., et al. (2019) Análisis de la cadena de valor del banano en la República Dominicana. Informe por la Unión Europea, DG-DEVCO, Value Chain Analysis for Development Project (VCA4D CTR 2016/375-804), pp. 131.
- Fouilleux E, Bricas N, Alpha A (2017) 'Feeding 9 billion people': global food security debates and the productionist trap. Journal of European Public Policy 24(11):1658–1677. https://doi.org/10. 1080/13501763.2017.1334084
- Giordano T., Losch B., Sourisseau J.M., Girard P. (2019) Risks of mass unemployment and worsening of working conditions, in: Dury

S.et al (Eds.), Food systems at risk. New trends and challenges, CIRAD-FAO, Rome, pp. 75-77.

- Gliessman S.R. (2015) Agroecology: the ecology of sustainable food systems, Third Edition. CRC Press, Francis and Taylor Group, Boca Raton, London New York.
- HLPE (2019) Agroecological and other innovative approaches for sustainable agriculture and food systems that enhance food security and nutrition. A report by the High Level Panel of Experts on Food Security and Nutrition of the Committee on World Food Security, Rome
- Lahmar R, Bationo BA, Dan Lamso N, Guéro Y, Tittonell P (2012) Tailoring conservation agriculture technologies to West Africa semi-arid zones: building on traditional local practices for soil restoration. Field Crops Research 132:158–167. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.fcr.2011.09.013
- Lairez J., et al. (2016) Agriculture et développement durable: Guide pour l'évaluation multicritère. Quae et Educagri éditions, Versailles, France, Chapitre 1. Du développement durable à l'évaluation multicritère : les bases.
- Le Coq J.F., et al. (2019) Public policies supporting agroecology in Latin America: lessons and perspe, in: Côte F.X.et al (Eds.), The agroecological transition of agricultural systems in the Global South, Quae, Versailles, France, pp. 313-325.
- Lescuyer G., et al. (2019) Analyse de la chaîne de valeur du cacao au Cameroun. Rapport pour l'Union Européenne, DG-DEVCO, Value Chain Analysis for Development Project (VCA4D CTR 2016/375-804), pp. 123.
- Lestrelin G, Castella JC, Li Q, Vongvisouk T, Tien ND, Mertz O (2019) A Nested Land Uses–Landscapes–livelihoods approach to assess the real costs of land-use transitions: insights from southeast Asia. Land **8**(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/land8010011
- Losch B. (2016) Structural transformation to boost youth labour demand in sub-Saharan Africa: the role of agriculture, rural areas and territorial development. International Labour Office, Employment Policy Department, Employment and Labour Market Policies Branch. https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/%2D%2D-ed_ emp/documents/publication/wcms 533993.pdf, Geneva.
- Malézieux E (2012) Designing cropping systems from nature. Agronomy for Sustainable Development 32:15–29. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13593-011-0027-z
- Malézieux E, Crozat Y, Dupraz C, Laurans M, Makowski D, Ozier-Lafontaine H, Rapidel B, Tourdonnet S, Valantin-Morison M (2009) Mixing plant species in cropping systems: concepts, tools and models. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development 29:43–62. https://doi.org/10.1051/agro:2007057
- Marie-Vivien D, Biénabe E (2017) The multifaceted role of the state in the protection of geographical indications: a worldwide review. World Development 98:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev. 2017.04.035
- Meylan L, Gary C, Allinne C, Ortiz J, Jackson L, Rapidel B (2017) Evaluating the effect of shade trees on provision of ecosystem services in intensively managed coffee plantations. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 245:32–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. agee.2017.05.005
- Meynard J-M, Jeuffroy MH, le Bail M, Lefèvre A, Magrini MB, Michon C (2017) Designing coupled innovations for the sustainability transition of agrifood systems. Agricultural Systems 157:330–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2016.08.002
- Michel B., et al. (2019) Analyse de la chaîne de valeur de l'anacarde au Mali. Rapport pour l'Union Européenne, DG-DEVCO, Value Chain Analysis for Development Project (VCA4D CTR 2016/375-804), pp. 114.

F. X. Côte et al.

- Mollot G, Duyck PF, Lefeuvre P, Lescourret F, Martin JF, Piry S, Canard E, Tixier P (2014) Cover cropping alters the diet of arthropods in a banana plantation: a metabarcoding approach. PLoS ONE **9**(4): e93740. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0093740
- Mottet A, Bicksler A, Lucantoni D, de Rosa F, Scherf B, Scopel E, López-Ridaura S, Gemmil-Herren B, Bezner Kerr R, Sourisseau JM, Petersen P, Chotte JL, Loconto A, Tittonell P (2020) Assessing transitions to sustainable agricultural and food systems: a tool for agroecology performance evaluation (TAPE). Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2020. 579154
- Nibouche S, Tibère R, Costet L (2019) Erianthus arundinaceus as a trap crop for the sugarcane stem borer Chilo sacchariphagus: field validation and disease risk assessment. Crop Protection **124**:104877. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2019.104877
- Padovan MP, Cortez VJ, Navarrete LF, Navarrete ED, Deffner AC, Centeno LG, Munguía R, Barrios M, Vílchez-Mendoza JS, Vega-Jarquín C, Costa AN, Brook RM, Rapidel B (2015) Root distribution and water use in a coffee shaded with Tabebuia rosea Bertol. and Simarouba glauca DC. compared to full sun coffee in suboptimal environmental conditions. Agroforestry Systems 89:857– 868. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10457-015-9820-z
- Paracchini M., et al. (2020) Agroecological practices supporting food production and reducing food insecurity in developing countries. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg JRC121570: 1-80. doi:https://doi.org/10.2760/82475
- Périnelle A, Meynard JM, Scopel E (2021) Combining on-farm innovation tracking and participatory prototyping trials to develop legumebased cropping systems in West Africa. Agricultural Systems 187: 102978. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2020.102978
- Perret SR, Stevens JB (2006) Socio-economic reasons for the low adoption of water conservation technologies by smallholder farmers in southern Africa: a review of the literature. Development Southern A frica 23(4):461-476. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 03768350600927193
- Piraux M., et al. (2019) Territorial mechanisms: common goods for undertaking the agroecological transition, in: Côte F.X.et al (Eds.), The agroecological transition of agricultural systems in the Global South, Quae, Versailles, France, pp. 293-312.
- Poeydebat C, Tixier P, Chabrier C, de Bellaire LL, Vargas R, Daribo MO, Carval D (2017) Does plant richness alter multitrophic soil food web and promote plant-parasitic nematode regulation in banana agroecosystems? Applied Soil Ecology 117-118:137–146. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2017.04.017
- Poeydebat C, Carval D, Tixier P, Daribo MO, de Bellaire LDL (2018) Ecological regulation of black leaf streak disease driven by plant richness in banana agroecosystems. Phytopathology **108**(10): 1184–1195. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO-12-17-0402-R
- Raboin LM, Ramanantsoanirina A, Dzido JL, Frouin J, Radanielina T, Tharreau D, Dusserre J, Ahmadi N (2013) Création variétale pour la riziculture pluviale d'altitude à Madagascar : bilan de 25 années de sélection. Cahiers Agricultures 22(5):450–458. https://doi.org/10. 1684/agr.2013.0624
- Ranaivoson L, Naudin K, Ripoche A, Affholder F, Rabeharisoa L, Corbeels M (2017) Agro-ecological functions of crop residues under conservation agriculture. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development 37(4):26. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-017-0432-z
- Ratnadass A, Fernandes P, Avelino J, Habib R (2012) Plant species diversity for sustainable management of crop pests and diseases in agroecosystems: a review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development 32(1):273–303. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-011-0022-4
- Roupsard O, Ferhi A, Granier A, Pallo F, Depommier D, Mallet B, Joly HI, Dreyer E (1999) Reverse phenology and dry-season water

uptake by Faidherbia albida (Del.) A. Chev. in an agroforestry parkland of Sudanese west Africa. Functional Ecology **13**(4):460–472. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2435.1999.00345.x

- Salazar-Díaz R, Tixier P (2019) Effect of plant diversity on income generated by agroforestry systems in Talamanca, Costa Rica. Agroforestry Systems 93(2):571–580. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10457-017-0151-0
- Salazar-Díaz R, Tixier P (2021, 127) Individual-based analysis of interactions between plants: a statistical modelling approach applied to banana and cacao in heterogeneous multistrata agroecosystems in Talamanca, Costa Rica. European Journal of Agronomy. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.eja.2021.126295
- Scopel E, Findeling A, Guerra EC, Corbeels M (2005) Impact of direct sowing mulch-based cropping systems on soil carbon, soil erosion and maize yield. Agronomy for Sustainable Development 25(4): 425–432. https://doi.org/10.1051/agro:2005041
- Scopel E, Triomphe B, Affholder F, da Silva FAM, Corbeels M, Xavier JHV, Lahmar R, Recous S, Bernoux M, Blanchart E, de Carvalho Mendes I, de Tourdonnet S (2013) Conservation agriculture cropping systems in temperate and tropical conditions, performances and impacts. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development 33(1):113–130. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-012-0106-9
- Silva FAM, Naudin K, Corbeels M, Scopel E, Affholder F (2019) Impact of conservation agriculture on the agronomic and environmental performances of maize cropping under contrasting climatic conditions of the Brazilian Cerrado. Field Crops Research 230:72–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2018.10.009
- Sourisseau J.M., et al. (2019) The drivers of agroecology in sub-Saharan Africa: an illustration from the Malagasy Highlands, in: Côte F.X.et al (Eds.), The agroecological transition of agricultural systems in the Global South, Quae, Versailles, France, pp. 179-197.
- Tardy F, Moreau D, Dorel M, Damour G (2015) Trait-based characterisation of cover plants' light competition strategies for weed control in banana cropping systems in the French West Indies. European Journal of Agronomy 71:10–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2015. 08.002
- Tittonell P (2020) Assessing resilience and adaptability in agroecological transitions. Agricultural Systems 184:102862. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.agsy.2020.102862
- Tittonell P, Klerkx L, Baudron F, Félix GF, Ruggia A, van Apeldoom D, Dogliotti S, Mapfumo P, Rossing WAH (2016) Ecological intensification: local innovation to address global challenges. In: Lichtfouse E (ed) Sustainable Agriculture Reviews: Volume 19. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp 1–34
- Tixier P, Lavigne C, Alvarez S, Gauquier A, Blanchard M, Ripoche A, Achard R (2011) Model evaluation of cover crops, application to eleven species for banana cropping systems. European Journal of Agronomy 34(2):53–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2010.10.004
- Tixier P et al (2013) Modelling interaction networks for enhanced ecosystem services in agroecosystems. Advances in Ecological Research 49:437–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-420002-9.00007-X
- Toillier A., et al. (2019) The ecologisation of agriculture through the prism of collaborative innovation, in: Côte F.X.et al (Eds.), The agroecological transition of agricultural systems in the Global South, Quae, Versailles, France, pp. 251-270.
- Toillier A, Mathé S, Saley Moussa A, Faure G (2022) How to assess agricultural innovation systems in a transformation perspective: a Delphi consensus study. Journal of Agricultural Education and Extension 28(2):163–185. https://doi.org/10.1080/1389224X.2021. 1953548

Springer INRAE

- Tonneau J.P., et al. (2017) The territory: a response to the development crisis, in: Caron P.et al (Eds.), Living Territories to Transform the World, Quae, Versailles, France, pp. 27-34.
- Vall E., et al. (2019) Co-design of innovative mixed crop-livestock farming systems in the cotton zone of Burkina Faso, in: Côte F.X.et al (Eds.), The agroecological transition of agricultural systems in the Global South, Quae, Versailles, France, pp. 17-35.
- van der Vossen H, Bertrand B, Charrier A (2015) Next generation variety development for sustainable production of arabica coffee (Coffea arabica L.): a review. Euphytica 204(2):243–256. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10681-015-1398-z
- Wezel A, Bellon S, Doré T, Francis C, Vallod D, David C (2009) Agroecology as a science, a movement and a practice. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development 29:503–515. https://doi. org/10.1051/agro/2009004
- Zaremba H et al (2021) Toward a feminist agroecology. Sustainability 13(20):11244. https://doi.org/10.3390/su132011244

Publisher's note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.